1969

**Melvin Miller, Dba S & E Distributing Company, and Lindsey Warehouse Company, Inc v. The Industrial Commission of Utah, Darlene F. Asay, Widow Of Leroy M. Asay, Deceased, Frank E. Martens, and The State Insurance Fund : Brief of Plaintiffs**

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case is before the Court on a Writ of Review pursuant to Section 35-1-83, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, from an Award of the Industrial Commission of Utah.

## DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

On May 29, 1969, the Industrial Commission entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Award against Melvin M. Miller (hereinafter called either "Miller" or "Plaintiff"), an individual doing business as S & E Distributing Company, an individual proprietorship (hereinafter called "S & E"), for allegedly failing to provide Workmen's Compensation Insurance for the employees of said Company as required by State law. The Commission, at the same time, dismissed the claims against Lindsey Warehouse Company, Inc. (hereinafter called "Lindsey Warehouse"), Frank E. Martens, and The State Insurance Fund (hereinafter called "The Fund"), all parties to the action. The Award was entered against Miller individually and awarded compensation to the claimant for a total of \$14,227.20.

Subsequently on July 23, 1969, Miller filed with the Industrial Commission of Utah a Motion for a Writ of Review on behalf of himself and Lindsey Warehouse, asking that the award be amended to provide compensation to the claimant under the provisions of the insurance policy held by Miller as an individual doing business as Lindsey Warehouse, or in the alternative, that the hearing examiner enter an order allowing the reopening of the record to allow introduction of additional, material evidence then available and which was not available at the time of the initial hearing. Such



Motion for a Writ of Review was denied by the Industrial Commission on September 12, 1969. This appeal relates to both the initial award and the denial of the Motion for a Writ of Review.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to set aside the order of the Industrial Commission as it relates to Miller's individual liability for payment of his claim, for the reason that the Commission's decision was contrary to the intent and purpose of the Workmen's Compensation Laws, was arbitrary and capricious, and contrary to the established facts. Plaintiff argues that The Fund is the party responsible for the payment of this claim and petitions this Court to direct the Commission to order The Fund to compensate claimant.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime prior to June 13, 1966, Miller, who owned and operated Lindsey Warehouse, entered into negotiations with defendant Frank E. Martens for the purchase of a business owned by Martens, S & E Distributing Company. The S & E operation was basically a wholesale or jobber of pre-packaged candy, nuts, and popcorn (R. 403). A small part of the business consisted of roasting and popping popcorn and packaging these items. Other than these small manufacturing processes, the business consisted of rebagging or dis-

tributing from the S & E warehouse (R. 343). Lindsey Warehouse and S & E were located immediately adjacent to one another at 353 West Second South and 357 West Second South respectively. A preliminary agreement was signed on the 13th day of June, 1966, relating to the purchase of the business by Miller (R. 242 and 454). At that time, Martens cancelled his Workmen's Compensation Insurance covering the employees of S & E (R. 514).

On July 16, 1966, Miller filed his quarterly tax reports (due July 31, 1966) to the State and the Federal government based upon wages paid to employees. At the same time he filed his semi-annual report to The Fund which covered the employees of Lindsey Warehouse. The new employees so acquired of S & E were not included on either report (R. 376). Both Miller and his Certified Public Accountant testified as to the reasons for the exclusion of the S & E employees on these reports (R. 174-176). The employees of S & E were, however, included on both reports in the next reporting period ending December 31, 1966 (R. 377 and 453).

On August 5, 1966, claimant's husband was killed in the course of and within the scope of his employment as a truck driver for S & E (R. 163). The sole question in this litigation is whether Miller's policy with The Fund covers the claimant who is entitled to compensation under the Workmen's Compensation Laws of Utah.

The record indicates that there was a policy of insurance with The Fund in existence at the time of the accident, and in the name of Miller, an individual doing business as Lindsey Warehouse (R. 445-450). The employer's payroll and premium report of December 31, 1965, designated the present status of the insured as a "corporation" (R. 142) but the policy remained in the name of Melvin M. Miller, an individual, until September 13, 1966, one month after the accident (R. 450).

In due course, the claimant filed a claim with the Industrial Commission for compensation (R. 3-6). Consequently, a dispute arose as to who was liable for payment of the claim as between Miller, dba S & E Distributing Company, Lindsey Warehouse, Frank E. Martens, or The Fund. A hearing on this matter was held before the Industrial Commission on June 28 and 29, 1967. The Industrial Commission, in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 513-515) dismissed the action as to the defendants Lindsey Warehouse Company, Inc., Frank E. Martens, and the State Insurance Fund, and assessed individual liability against Miller for payment of claimant's claim.

The Examiner found that Miller, acting as an individual, was the actual employer of the S & E employees, and that no relationship extended to Lindsey Warehouse (R. 514).

The Examiner also found that insurance coverage existed for Lindsey Warehouse, but that neither Miller

nor S & E were covered (R. 514). The Commission therefore concluded that inasmuch as the employees of S & E were those of Miller rather than of Lindsey Warehouse, and because the insurance policy covered only Lindsey Warehouse, that Miller, as an individual, was liable for the claim. An award was consequently entered against Miller individually for \$14,227.20 including statutory funeral expenses of \$525.00, and \$1,400.00 attorney's fees to be deducted from the accrued compensation (R. 515).

On July 23, 1969, Miller filed a Motion for a Writ of Review with the Industrial Commission alleging (R. 521):

1. That The Fund was liable for the claim because its policy covered not only Lindsey Warehouse, the corporation, but also Miller, as the proprietor, on the date of the accident (R. 521).

2. That Lindsey Warehouse, the corporation, was the actual purchaser of S & E, and that coverage existed for the claimant under the corporation's policy with The Fund (R. 524).

3. That if the errors in the award did not require modification of the award, that the records should be reopened so as to admit the newly discovered evidence (R. 527).

On September 12, 1969, the Commission entered its decision on the Motion for the Writ of Review in

which it denied<sup>1</sup> said Motion for the following reasons (R. 561):

1. That even if the S & E operation had in fact been purchased by Lindsey Warehouse Company, coverage of S & E employees was not applied for nor extended to said employees.

2. That the report filed by Lindsey Warehouse on July 16, 1966, did not include the additional payroll of S & E nor did it include the additional job classifications of these employees.

It therefore concluded that the evidence contained in file in the initial award was sufficient to sustain the hearing examiner's decision in that case. It ordered that the Motion for Review filed by Miller should be denied and thereby in so doing, refused to reopen the case for additional consideration (R. 561).

Having exhausted all administrative remedies, the plaintiff now appeals from the decisions of the Industrial Commission.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

DISMISSAL OF THE CLAIM AGAINST THE STATE INSURANCE FUND WAS CONTRARY TO THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION STATUTES OF UTAH, CONTRARY TO ESTABLISHED AUTHORITY, AND AGAINST PUBLIC POLICY.

The hearing examiner in the award found that the issues before the Commission were limited to (a) who was, in fact, the employer of the deceased at the time of the accident, and (b) who was responsible for the payment of the benefits to the applicant.

Point I will attempt to show that The Fund was indeed the party responsible for payment of compensation to the applicant, and that it was an error of law for the Commission to not so hold. In so doing it will be demonstrated that: (a) the scope and purpose of The Fund indicates that this employee (LeRoy Asay) should have been covered by The Fund's policy; (b) the Utah statutes intend that insurance coverage be of a "full coverage" type, thereby extending coverage to all employees under the Workmen's Compensation Act, and covering the entire liability of an employer who is insured, and; (c) the Industrial Commission acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner in failing to follow its established statutory procedures, and that The Fund was derelict in its duties of investigation and audit of Miller and Lindsey Warehouse in the acquisition of S & E.

*A. The purpose and scope of the State Insurance Fund.*

The purpose of the State Insurance Fund is set forth in 35-3-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which reads in part as follows:

“35-3-1. State Insurance Fund — Purpose. There shall be maintained a fund, to be known as the State Insurance Fund, for the *purpose of insuring employers* against liability for compensation based upon compensable accidental injuries and against liability for compensation on the account of occupational disease, *and of assuring to the persons entitled thereto, the compensation provided by law . . .*” (emphasis added)

It is clearly stated that the purpose of the State Insurance Fund is to protect the employer who insures with this Fund. Of course, not only is the employer protected, but also the employee is assured that he will be compensated for injuries sustained while on the job (simple, adequate, and speedy compensation), and to protect him from an otherwise judgment-proof employer.

Workmen's Compensation Insurance, therefore, is much more than a mere ordinary insurance policy in that it creates a vested right in the employee to compensation, irrespective of the actions of either the insurance carrier or the employer. Arthur Larsen, in his treatise on Workmen's Compensation entitled *Workman's Compensation Law*, Section 92.00, makes the following comment:

“Compensation insurance creates a sort of insured status in the employee. If it did no more than protect the employer from any liability incurred by him under compensation law, there would be no occasion for discussion of such insurance in connection with compensation law at

all. The employer's rights would be fixed by substantive compensation law, and all questions of the insurer's relation to the liability would be a simple application of general insurance law, just as an automobile liability insurer's position is worked out by a direct interpretation of the insurance contract. Compensation insurance, however, has come to be an integral part of the compensation system which unlike tort litigation, which is an adversary contest to right or wrong between contestants, *Workmen's Compensation is a system, not a contest, to supply security to the injured worker and to distribute the costs to the consumer of the product.*" (emphasis added)

It is clear, then, that this type of insurance has in mind the very ultimate of protection to the injured employee. Simply stated, the purpose of such insurance stands in two relations: First, to the employer, to protect him from the burden of compensation liability; and secondly, and more important, to the employee, to insure that he gets the benefits called for by statute.

As between the insurance carrier and the employee, defenses by the carrier based upon the misconduct or omissions of the employer are of no relevance in determining liability. In *Workmen's Compensation Law*, Supra, Section 92.20, pg. 446, Larsen states that this is a rule of general application and that several states have incorporated it in their statutes, these states being Georgia, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Virginia, and Wisconsin. The Utah Supreme Court has indicated that this is the case in Utah. In *Continental Casualty Company vs. Industrial Commis-*



sion of *Utah*, 61 Ut. 16, 210 P.127, (1922), the Supreme Court indicated that fraudulent statements which induced the issuance of an insurance policy are no defense against the employee. While the actual decision in this case annulled an Industrial Commission award for compensation, it did hold:

“ . . . The Industrial Commission was without authority to determine or hold that his terms were not in force and binding upon the casualty company at the time of the accident. If the policy was obtained by fraud or if a mistake was made in fixing the date when the same should become effective, the Industrial Commission is not the tribunal to grant the plaintiff relief . . . The Commission has no power to do otherwise than to enforce and apply his terms as the same appear in the policy.”

In *Empey vs. the Industrial Commission of Utah*, 91 Ut. 234, 63 P.2d 630, (1937), this Court held at page 636 of 63 P.2d:

“To deny the injured employees compensation merely because those who drew the policy with knowledge of the facts misconceived the legal relations of the parties flowing from such facts would work a grave injustice to the injured employees without any fault on their part.”

It has also been held that even non-payment of premiums does not entitle the carrier to deny liability to the employee. In *Home Life and Accident Company vs. Orchard*, 227 S.W. 705 (Tex. Civ. App. 1921), it was held that if an employer was protected by the policy

issued by his employees' workmen's compensation insurer, such protection was not lost because the employer failed to pay the proper premium to the insurer. If the employer owed the premium and does not pay it, he still owes it, and it is subject to audit and payment. See also, *Traders and General Insurance Co. v. Henderson*, 235 Ark. 896, 362 S.W.2d 671 (1962).

It can be seen then that Workmen's Compensation Insurance occupies a very different and distinct posture than does ordinary liability insurance. It is the policy of Workmen's Compensation Insurance to have the rights and interests of the employee foremost in mind. When a dispute arises between an employer and his insurance carrier, the policy behind Workmen's Compensation should be the point upon which liability turns. Mere technicalities and formalities which are points of dispute between the parties should not deny the employee his right of speedy compensation when a policy of insurance exists.

In the case at hand, there is no question that a policy of insurance with The Fund was in force upon which liability could turn. It is therefore submitted that the foregoing clearly illustrates that the policy of Workmen's Compensation Insurance requires that the employee's right to compensation not turn on relatively insignificant points as compared with the intended purpose of Workmen's Compensation Insurance and the rights of the employee.

B. *The Utah statute is in the nature of a "full coverage" statute.*

In Larsen's *Workmen's Compensation Law*, Section 93.10, pg. 459, he discusses the various types of Workmen's Compensation statutes. He classifies these statutes as follows:

- (1) Full coverage statutes.
- (2) Modified coverage statutes.
- (3) Statutes which provide for no express coverage.

In discussing these statutes, Mr. Larsen says:

"Under most compensation acts, either by express provision or by court interpretation, the law has undertaken to compel a certain minimum coverage in insurance contracts, regardless of any narrower agreement between the insurer and the employer . . . The principal reason is probably the convenience of being able to assume that so far as the employee is concerned, the liability of the insured is completely co-extensive with that of the employer, so that one proceeding can settle the liability of both."

Larsen describes the *full coverage* statute as the type of statute which states that policies of insurance must cover the employer's entire liability. In Section 93.20, Mr. Larsen says:

"The usual language is something like this:  
'Every policy of insurance covering the liability of an employer for compensation shall cover the

*entire liability of the employer to his employees under the act.* At first glance, it might seem that there could be only one interpretation of this sweeping language — *coverage of all the employees of the assured in all occupations and all businesses. This is, indeed, the meaning accepted by the majority of courts.*” (emphasis added)

Larsen goes on to state that many courts have been disturbed with this broad sweeping language and have attempted to impose certain restrictions and qualifications into such statutes. He concludes:

“This judicial tampering with the unqualified language of the statute seems unjustified.”

It is submitted that the Utah statute relating to Workmen’s Compensation Insurance is indeed a “full coverage” type statute. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Section 31-19-15, states in part:

*“Every policy of insurance covering the liability of an employer for compensation shall cover the entire liability of the employer to his employees on account of compensable and accidental injuries and occupational diseases covered by the policy or contract. . . .”* (emphasis added)

Applying Larsen’s analysis and the literal meaning and interpretation of the Utah statute, one can reach only a single conclusion: That under the Utah Workmen’s Compensation laws, the insurance is to cover the *entire liability of the employer to all of his employees*. Accordingly, any policy of insurance issued to an employer should cover the entire liability of that employer to his employees.

The Utah courts adhere to the position of the majority of the courts which have interpreted full-coverage statutes, and the Utah courts, as well as the courts of the neighboring states, uphold the full-coverage interpretation of the applicable statute. As indicated by the following cases, Utah courts have ignored payment of premiums, proper classification of employees, and the name in which the policy was issued, in determining whether a given policy provided compensation for an injured employee.

In *Empey vs. Industrial Commission of Utah*, Supra, the court was called upon to determine whether certain employees were entitled to the benefits of a policy of insurance which was issued in the name of the Escalante Company. In this case, the Escalante Company owned certain property and contracted with the Arrowhead Company to do certain drilling on it. There was common ownership of stock and common management between the companies. The companies also maintained joint offices, and one set of books was kept for the companies in regard to this operation. In this case, there was much confusion as to the name in which the policy should be issued. After several changes, the policy was issued in the name of the Escalante Company. In the course of the drilling, employees were injured. The Commission found that the injured persons were employees of Arrowhead and disallowed the claim. The Court reversed the decision of the Commission and, in effect, held that the name of the insured

in the policy is not controlling. The Court in so doing stated as follows:

“ . . . the evidence shows without conflict that the policy here relied upon by plaintiffs was issued as a coverage for the workmen engaged in the operations incident to the development of the Escalante well where the explosion occurred.”

The Court further stated as follows:

“To deny the injured employees compensation merely because those who drew the policy with knowledge of the facts misconceived the legal relations of the parties flowing from such facts, would work a grave injustice to the injured employees without any fault on their part.”

“ . . . Neither of the defendants can escape liability because the Escalante Company rather than the Arrowhead Company was named as the insured in the policy involved in this controversy.”

This case clearly indicates that the Courts will go to great lengths to find an employee to be covered under an existing policy of insurance. The case also indicates that the Utah public policy, as expressed by its Supreme Court, is in favor of finding coverage to exist. In the *Empey* case, the Court used the test of intent in order to determine whether coverage should be extended to the employees in question. The Court looked to the intent of the employer in taking out the policy to determine whether the injured employee should be able to claim benefits from the insurer.

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