1970

Melvin Miller, Dba S & E Distributing Company, and Lindsey Warehouse Company, Inc v. The Industrial Commission of Utah, Darlene F. Asay, Widow Of Leroy M. Asay, Deceased, Frank E. Martens, and The State Insurance Fund : Brief of Defendants

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

This issue was to be resolved on several alternative theories of proof.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

LEROY M. ASAY, DECEASED, WAS AT THE TIME OF HIS DEATH EMPLOYED BY THE LINDSEY WAREHOUSE COMPANY

On or about the 13th day of June, 1966, Mr. Melvin M. Miller as agent for the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation entered into an agreement with Mr. Frank E. Martens, the sole owner of the S & E Distributing Company, to purchase the S & E Distributing Company. At that time a written memorandum was entered into by both parties setting forth the general terms of the purchase agreement. A check

drawn on the Lindsey Warehouse Company account was then delivered to Frank E. Martens as the first payment or the down payment for the purchase of the S & E Distributing Company.

No evidence was offered by the State Insurance Fund or by any other party to show that Mr. Melvin M. Miller was acting in any capacity other than as agent for the Lindsey Warehouse Company. No evidence was introduced at the hearing by any party to show that Mr. Melvin M. Miller treated or managed the S & E Distributing operation as his own private personal business apart from the corporation.

The accountant, Mr. Maxwell, testified at great length that he discussed the purchase of the S & E Distributing operation with Mr. Miller and advised Mr. Miller to purchase the S & E Distributing Company and include it in the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation operation. He advised Mr. Miller to file with each applicable State or Governmental authority one set of reports for the entire operation. He advised Mr. Miller to maintain, for accounting purposes only, such separate records as would be necessary to determine the profitability of the S & E Distributing operation. (T 375, 390) No evidence or testimony was offered at the hearing which in any way contradicted the testimony offered by Mr. Maxwell.

Mr. Miller testified at the hearing that pursuant to his discussion and instructions from Mr. Maxwell he then as agent for the Lindsey Warehouse Corpor-

ation purchased the S & E Distributing Company operation and made the down payment with a check drawn on the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation. The purchase was credited to a catch-all account of the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation — account number 242. (T 340)

Mr. Miller testified that he attempted to terminate the lease for the building in which the S & E Distributing business was being conducted but was unsuccessful. (T 273, 274) The operation known as the S & E Distributing Company prior to the acquisition by the Lindsey Warehouse Company was adjacent to the Lindsey Warehouse Company and a joint wall separated the two businesses.

Immediately after the acquisition of the S & E Distributing Company by the Lindsey Warehouse Company there was an immediate sharing and joint use of the equipment of the two companies, including the use of trucks, pallet jacks, pallets, office equipment, supplies and employees. (T 250, 272)

Mr. Miller for all practical purposes was the sole owner of the Lindsey Warehouse Company. Mr. Miller was also for all practical purposes the sole manager of the Lindsey Warehouse Company. As such Mr. Miller immediately began to exercise complete control over the employees and the accounts and the equipment of the S & E Distributing Company in behalf of the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation. The only way in which the Lindsey Warehouse Company

could show any outward signs of control over the S & E Distributing operation would be by and through its sole owner and manager — Mr. Miller.

At the time of the hearing of this case no testimony or evidence was offered to show that Mr. Miller acted in his own personal capacity in purchasing the S & E Distributing operation. No evidence or testimony was offered to show that Mr. Miller did not intend to make the S & E Distributing operation part of the Lindsay Warehouse Corporation. No evidence or testimony was offered to show that Mr. Miller did not immediately begin to interchange and exercise joint use of the trucks, pallet jacks, pallets, office equipment, supplies and employees of the two operations.

In short, it could be said that it is uncontroverted by any evidence, even a scintilla of evidence, that all of the acts of Mr. Miller were done in behalf of the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation.

The hearing examiner arbitrarily and capriciously took no cognizance whatsoever of the testimony of Mr. Maxwell, (not an employee) the accountant for the Lindsey Warehouse Company, and a disinterested witness.

The hearing examiner arbitrarily and capriciously completely ignored all of the testimony of Mr. Miller concerning the purchase of the S & E Distributing operation and its inclusion in the Lindsey Warehouse Company.

The hearing examiner then held that Mr. Miller did not purchase the S & E Distributing operation as agent for the Lindsey Warehouse Company but in fact purchased it for his own personal use and at no time contemplated combining it with the Lindsey Warehouse Company until after the death of the deceased, Mr. LeRoy M. Asay and did so only in an attempt to avoid personal liability to the applicant. Such a finding is contrary to the testimony of Mr. Miller corroborated by the testimony of Mr. Maxwell. Such a finding is contrary to all evidence and is arbitrary and capricious since there is no evidence to support said finding.

In the case of *Jones vs. California Packing Corp.*, 244 P2d 640 this Court has ruled upon this type of conduct and stated at page 644:

“No issue is taken with the thought that the Commission is not obliged to believe evidence if there is anything inherently incredible about it, or any circumstance to warrant failure to accept it. However, where facts are proved by uncontradicted testimony of competent disinterested witnesses and there is nothing inherently unreasonable, nor any circumstance which would tend to raise doubt of its truth, it should be taken as established. Refusal to do so is an arbitrary disregard by the trier of facts.

. . . .

“If the Commission could go so far as to refuse to believe such evidence, in the absence of anything of substance to refute it, then it certainly would possess arbitrary powers with

no effective review left available to the litigant . . .

“The law does not invest the Commission with any such arbitrary power to disbelieve or disregard uncontradicted, competent, credible evidence, as it appears to have done here.”

The attitude of the Industrial Commission is further indicated by its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law where at page 3 it provides the following:

“It appears to the Hearing Examiner that a good share of the testimony became “after the fact” testimony. Simply stated, it seems that a serious liability was imminent — let us find a way to move it over where we have insurance.”

The attention of this Court is respectfully drawn to the fact that had the hearing examiner not waited from July 29, 1967 (the date of the hearing) until the 29th of May, 1969 to render his decision he would have remembered the persuasive evidence that required a different finding.

POINT II

WHENEVER THERE IS AN ISSUE OVER WHICH THERE MAY BE DOUBT SUCH ISSUE SHOULD BE RESOLVED IN FAVOR OF THE EMPLOYEE.

This Court has stated the rule that every possible inference and every resolution of issues should be drawn in favor of the employee. See *Barber Asphalt Corporation vs. Industrial Commission*, 135 P2d 266 (Utah 1943); *M & K Corporation vs. In-*

dustrial Commission, 189 P2d 132 (Utah 1948); *Leventis vs. Industrial Commission*, 35 P2d 770 (Utah 1934).

The Industrial Commission ignored the guidelines as clearly defined by this Court on so many occasions. The Industrial Commission not only failed to draw every inference or resolve every issue in favor of the employee but also disregarded and ignored uncontradicted, competent, corroborated evidence even given by disinterested witnesses.

This Court has on many occasions laid down the rule that the Workmen's Compensation Act should be liberally construed so as to afford coverage to the employee whenever possible. See *Ogden Iron Works vs. Industrial Commission*, 132 P2d 376 (Utah 1942); *Salt Lake City vs. Industrial Commission*, 140 P2d 644 (Utah 1943); *Jones vs. California Packing Corp.* 244 P2d 640 (Utah 1952); *Park Utah Consol. Mines Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 36 P2d 979 (Utah 1934).

The Industrial Commission failed to follow these guidelines. The Industrial Commission held that the S & E Distributing operation was carried on as a separate business apart from the Lindsey Warehouse Company. This finding is contrary to all the evidence with no evidence to support the same.

The death of the deceased occurred within six weeks of the purchase of the S & E Distributing operation. Inasmuch as the accountant was out of town

all the formal steps necessary to include the S & E Distributing operation in the Lindsey Warehouse operation from an accounting standpoint had not been perfected. The inclusion of the payroll for various employees in an IBM accounting system is a complicated procedure which can only be handled by a competent accountant skilled in IBM equipment operation. The fact that the payroll for the S & E Distributing operation was not immediately included in the IBM accounting payroll system of the Lindsey Warehouse Corporation does not in and of itself require the conclusion that the S & E Distributing operation was a separate business. As has been previously indicated any question should be construed in favor of the employee.

In 99 C.J.S. Section 64 Workmen's Compensation at page 278 the following is found:

“The fact that the worker was or was not carried on the pay roll must be considered, although it is not conclusive. One may be an employee under an act even though not on the employer's pay roll, and even though no pay roll is kept; but the fact of inclusion in the pay roll has been cited as an indication of the relation of employer and employee, and absence therefrom as indicative of an intention not to create the relation.”

The reason for the failure to include the S & E Distributing employees on the Lindsey Warehouse payroll as of the date of death of the decedent has been substantially explained by the testimony of a

disinterested competent witness — Mr. Maxwell. Said testimony stands uncontradicted. The Industrial Commission found: "There is no probative evidence to make a finding that Lindsey Warehouse Company, Inc. was the employer." (Finding of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Award, page 3) The hearing examiner further disregarded the testimony and evidence which showed that the down payment for the S & E Distributing Company was made on a Lindsey Warehouse check. (Ex. 1) (T 340)

POINT III

THE DECEASED LEROY M. ASAY WAS COVERED BY WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION INSURANCE ISSUED BY THE STATE INSURANCE FUND.

The State Insurance Fund had a policy of insurance covering the operation of the Lindsey Warehouse Company and had in fact insured the operation now known as the Lindsey Warehouse Company for years (T 188-190) Although the State Insurance Fund had been notified that the Lindsey Warehouse Company had been incorporated the State Insurance Fund did not issue an endorsement changing the name of the insurance policy from Melvin M. Miller, d/b/a Lindsey Warehouse Company until approximately one month after the death of the deceased (T 190) Technically, the State Insurance Fund was insuring all the employees of Melvin M. Miller in and about the Lindsey Warehouse Company operation.

The State Insurance Fund issued a policy of in-

insurance to Melvin M. Miller and subsequently the Lindsey Warehouse Company, which policy by its terms incorporated into it the statutes of the State of Utah regarding Workmen's Compensation. The policy by incorporation of the statutes assumed the entire liability of Mr. Melvin M. Miller to his employees as provided by the statutes of the State of Utah. New employees were automatically covered (both by practice and procedure) on the date of their employment without any notification necessary to the State Insurance Fund.

The policy of insurance upon Mr. Melvin M. Miller covered his entire liability arising out of the Workmen's Compensation Act. Several Courts have spoken on this issue. See *West Chandler Farms Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 173 P2d 84 (Ariz. 1946); 100 C.J.S. Workmen's Compensation Section 364 at page 56.

This Court has in effect made the same ruling where in the case of *Empey vs. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 63 P2d 630 (Utah 1937) the Court stated that the "employer is either wholly within or altogether outside its operation." In the Utah Code Annotated Section 35-3-11 it provides that in the event premiums are paid by an employer on the "estimated expenditure of wages" method, at the end of the "period" if there is a deficiency it shall be forthwith paid to the State Insurance Fund and if there is an excess it is to be refunded to the employer. It is quite clear that the payment of the premium for the insur-

ance coverage by the State Insurance Fund is done on an estimated basis at the beginning of the period with the final adjustment being made at the end of the period.

The said statute contemplates the automatic insurance coverage for any new employees of any employer already covered by the State Insurance Fund. No forms are sent to the State Insurance Fund. They are not required by the State Insurance Fund or the statute. No endorsements are necessary for the insurance policy for the inclusion of new employees. There is merely an increase in the premium due based upon the payroll expenditure, which increase is paid at the end of the payroll period.

The fact that the estimated premium may or may not have reflected the increased number of employees brought in from the S & E Distributing operation to the Lindsey Warehouse Company can make no difference. The State Insurance Fund was entitled to the money for the premiums and if they were not collected at the beginning of the period they were due at the end of the period. The employer could not avoid liability for payment of the premiums. The remedy available to the State Insurance Fund for the failure of the employer to pay the premiums — in the event the employer failed to pay them was a civil action against the employer as provided for in Utah Code Ann. section 35-3-17 which allows interest at the rate of 12% per annum.

The statute does not provide that an employer's

liability insurance for workmen's compensation is forfeited upon his failure to pay the premiums. In fact the statute sets forth the opposite position. It allows only a cause of action against the employer for failure to pay the premium due. Even if the employer had willfully failed to pay the State Insurance Fund this would not void the policy of insurance but would result in a cause of action arising in the State Insurance Fund against the employer.

In the case of *West Chandler Farms Co. vs. Industrial Commission*, 173 P2d 84 (Ariz. 1946) the Court at page 90 stated:

“Mere failure to include wages of employees who are covered by the policy, whether inadvertantly or under the belief that such employees are independent contractors, will not void the policy between the insurer and the assured. It is not always possible to determine the total number of employees thus new employees upon which wages no premiums have been paid are protected by these policies.”

This rule has been followed and has been stated by other Courts. See *Schneider vs. Salvation Army*, 14 N.W. 2d 467 (Minn. 1944).

This Court in the case of *Empey vs. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 63 P2d 630 (Utah 1937) restating a rule set forth in a Massachusetts case declared the following:

“If an employer becomes a subscriber he becomes a subscriber for all purposes as to all branches of one business with respect to all

those in his service under any contract of hire. All the terms of the act are framed upon the basis that the employer is either wholly within or altogether outside its operation. There is no suggestion or phrase warranting the inference that there can be a divided or partial insurance.

“The practical administration of the act renders it highly desirable that a single rule of liability should apply throughout any single business. Otherwise difficult and troublesome questions often might arise as to liability or non-liability dependent upon classifications of employees and scope of their duties. Litigation as to the line of demarcation between those protected by the act and those not entitled to its benefits would be almost inevitable. Instead of being simple, plain and prompt in its operation, such divisions of insurance would promote complications, doubts and delays.”

Although the Empey case is not identical to the case at bar the rule it states is sufficiently broad to more than adequately cover the present facts of this case.

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